1957

J. P. Gibbons and Virginia L. Gibbons v. Salt Lake City Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action to quiet title to a strip of land 21 feet wide east and west and 140.99 feet long, north and south. The complaint is in the usual form of a quiet title action and prays for a decree quieting title in plaintiffs. The defendant's answer denies plaintiffs' ownership and possession of said strip and alleges that defendant has been in possession thereof for more than 80 years for street purposes and that it is a part of a public street of defendant Salt Lake City. Defendant also claims the action is barred by Section 78-12-5 and 78-12-6, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, and that defendant has had adverse

possession for more than 7 years prior to the commencement of the action. Defendant prays that title be quieted in it.

The issue raised in the case is whether this strip is a part of 21st East Street in Salt Lake City or is a part of the property claimed to be owned by plaintiffs by virtue of a deed to them in which the property description gives the commencement point as "beginning at the original southeast corner of Lot 1, Block 27, Five Acre Plat "C", Big Field Survey, which point is located South 89° 57' W. 23.40 feet and North 31.77 feet from the Salt Lake City Street monument located at the intersection of 13th South and 21st East Street." The City contends that the southeast corner of said Lot is 44.4 feet west of this street monument. The Trial Court made findings to the effect that plaintiffs and their predecessor in interest have a continuous chain of title to this strip from the U.S. Patent to the date of trial. It further found that defendant City had acquiesced by its conduct for more than 50 years prior to the commencement of this action in the location of 21st East Street immediately adjoining the east of said property; that plaintiffs and their predecessor have been in open, actual and continuous possession under a claim of right and adverse to defendant for more than 25 years last past; that the City has no right, title or interest in and to the said property and has not had exclusive possession or use thereof or of any part of the public street for the past 80 years and said property has not been a part of the public street of the city. That the area here involved

is now used as a street but such use resulted solely from the city in 1955 requiring such use as a condition to granting a building permit to plaintiffs. A decree quieting title in plaintiffs and denying any interest in defendant was entered upon such findings of fact.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiffs introduced in evidence an Abstract of Title marked Exhibit 2-P, (Tr.-22) covering the property involved from the U.S. Patent to plaintiffs' ownership. Page 3 of that abstract shows a patent to Henry Hugh Harris (Harries), dated September 20, 1870, covering the S $\frac{1}{2}$ of the SW $\frac{1}{4}$ of Section 10, T1S, R1E. He did not convey the property in his lifetime. Pages 6, 7 and 8 show a Decree of Distribution in his estate dated November 30, 1907, and distribution to his heirs of property described as a part of Lot 1, Block 27, 5 Acre Plat "C", commencing 27.3 rods west of the southeast corner of said lot, and running east 27.3 rods, thence north 17.4 rods, etc. No mention is made of Section 10 or of 21st East Street or of any monument. No tie is made to any such corner or line. The explanatory notes in the front of the abstract show that blocks in 5 Acre Plat "C" are divided in 20 lots, each of which is 17.4 rods, or 287.1 feet, north and south and 46 rods, or 759 feet, east and west.

The same commencement point is used in all instruments covering the property, including the deed to Sylvia S. Harries, Entry No. 17, until Sylvia S. Harries con-

veyed to Elmer M. Savage and wife, plaintiffs' immediate predecessors, Entry No. 34, acknowledged December 10, 1935, recorded November 20, 1936. In this deed the grantor for the first time attempted to fix the position of the southeast corner of Lot 1, Block 27, 5 Acre Plat "C", by saying it was 23.4 feet west of the City Street Monument, being "the original southeast corner of said Lot 1." There is absolutely no evidence to support the assertion that there was an original southeast corner as contrasted to some other corner.

Since the commencement point and the east line of plaintiffs' property are tied to the southeast corner of Lot 1, Block 27, 5 Acre Plat "C", and since plaintiffs' grantors, and their immediate predecessor in interest gratuitously attempted to fix the location of said corner by stating in their deeds that the "original" corner or "original" east line were a certain distance namely, 23.4 feet, west of the city monument in the street, plaintiffs' whole case depended entirely upon establishing said corner at the point indicated.

Sylvia S. Harries, first grantor to use the city monument as a tie for the commencement point, took title simply by reference to the southeast corner of Lot 1, without any tie to anything except the 5 Acre Plat "C" survey, which was made in 1867 by Jesse W. Fox and without any mention of any "original" corner. There is no evidence whatever that when Mrs. Harries, in 1935, gave her deed to the Savages, plaintiffs' immediate predecessor in interest, that any survey had been made or

any other information had been obtained upon which the tie to the city monument is made, or that the commencement point established by such tie was the "original" corner or that there had been any prior or subsequent or other corner. The mere recitation in the deed that the southeast corner of Lot 1 was 23.4 feet west of the city monument would not, of course, establish the corner at that point. Plaintiffs recognized this and so attempted to submit proof that that was the location of said southeast corner. The following summarizes plaintiffs' evidence.

Mark B. Eggertson, President of Security Title Company, a licensed abstractor, and the one who wrote the title insurance policy covering the disputed area, testified he made no personal examination of any records or plats. He relied on his employed examiners who were cautioned and instructed to "pick up any documents that might disclose what would be called the east line of Lot 1, any documents establishing the roadway on 21st East Street." (Tr.-17, 25) He relied on a map attached to the abstract, Exhibit 2-P, made by J. C. Jensen, an abstractor, since deceased, prepared presumably in 1936, and assumed that Jensen must have found plats in the Recorder's office from which he made his map. (Tr.-21) The witness knew that the 5 Acre Plat "C" survey mentioned in the abstract referred back to the Jesse W. Fox map of 1867 and that the lots therein were 759 feet east and west of 287.1 feet north and south. (Note: The Court Reporter has written the year as 1887 instead of 1867 which is the correct year as shown by the map itself and

other testimony and has written the length as 769 whereas the correct length is 759 feet.) The foregoing appears in pages 21 to 25 of the transcript.

Plaintiffs introduced a map, Exhibit 3-P, (Tr.-26), prepared by a licensed engineer, George Fisher, which map was in Eggerton's possession before he insured the property. This map showed the east line of Lot 1 established by the City Engineer and showed it to be exactly where the defendant contends it is. Eggertson further knew that there was an excess in the length of Lot 1, varying from 30.33 feet to 9 feet depending on which plat was used. One plat placed the length as 789.33 feet, another at 774.106 feet, and another at 768 feet, while the lots should be 759 feet long. (Tr.-26, 27) He further knew that the whole chain of title depended on where the southeast corner of Lot 1 actually is. (Tr.-18)

Afton Harries Savage, age 61, testified she was acquainted with the property as long back as she could remember. Her father got the property in 1908. She and her husband bought the property in 1936, and sold to plaintiffs. There was a fence along the trees shown on the photos, Exhibits 4-P, 5-P, and 6-P. There was also an irrigation ditch east of the trees. There were posts along the line of the trees extending north past the house at 1294. There was also a large stone to the east of the line near the fence for use to get in a carriage. It was moved by the city. (Tr.-32, 35) She did not remember a fence to the west of the trees. She first said her husband made the ditch (Tr.-35) and a cross examination

says she didn't know who made it. She doesn't know who planted the trees. They never claimed to have owned any of the traveled part of the street, only what they used. (Tr.-42)

Frank W. Taylor, agent for Texaco Company, simply identified two photos, Exhibits 7-P and 8-P. The City refused to permit them to use the 21 feet in dispute for their service station. They were informed by the City that if the property owner succeeded in establishing the right to this 21 feet, the City would have to condemn to maintain the 66 feet for the street. (Tr.-44, 46)

Robert C. McAuliffe, Title Officer for Security Title Company, testified he made an examination of some records and plats to prepare for this litigation and assist the court in determining the location of the property. (Tr.-47) He testified the only thing of record to establish the west line of 21st East Street in the County Recorder's office appears to be an official plat of 5 Acre Plat "C"; that was the only one he could find. There was what he called F. M. Lyman's plat of Township 1 South, Range 1 East, prepared June 1, 1932, which gives the dimensions of the various lots in the vicinity. A photostat of this so-called plat is in evidence as Exhibit 9-P. There is no testimony as to who prepared this plat. The note on it shows it was not made by F. M. Lyman. On the contrary, it was made by someone who was trying to harmonize Lyman's survey of Section 16, an entirely different section, with surveys made by the City Engineer. The ties to the section corner were taken from Mc-

Allister's survey of 5 Acre Plat "C", Lyman's Survey of Section 16 and from surveys of subdivisions. The dimensions of the lots in 5 Acre Plat "C" are taken from surveys by the City Engineer. What surveys were thus used as the source of this information is not stated. The plat, erroneously called F. M. Lyman's plat in the testimony, was evidently made by a draftsman in the County Recorder's office in an attempt to correlate conflicting plats. This map gives the length of the south line of Lot 1, Block 27, as 774.106 feet, and the southwest corner as being 143.276 feet east of the section line of Section 10. (Tr.-49) This is not in harmony with the plat made by J. C. Jensen in the back of the abstract, Exhibit 2-P, upon which Eggertson relied so heavily. In that plat the length of Lot 1 is given as 789.3 feet and the southwest corner of Lot 1 is 128.67 feet east of the section line of Section 10, a difference of approximately 15 feet in each instance.

Plaintiffs placed in evidence, over defendant's objection an old file #7138, being a suit by Salt Lake City v. Ann Elmer filed December 29, 1887, to condemn property about 587 feet north of the property in dispute for 21st East Street. Attached to the file is a map (Tr.-19, 31, 105), McAuliffe testified that 21st East Street as reflected on the Lyman plat corresponds within three feet of the promulgation of the west line of 21st East Street on the Elmer map southerly to Lot 1. How he could possibly make such a statement is not apparent from the two exhibits.

Incidentally, it is well to point out here that the complaint in the Ann Elmer case states that the area sought to be condemned had been “for more than 20 years used and occupied as a public highway in said city, that said land was laid off in said street by plaintiff more than 10 years since and so used but vacated as such about 2 years ago, that on Thursday, December 28, 1887, said plaintiff by and through its corporate council resolved to open said street again, and authorized immediate action in the premises by reason of the fact that the highway was about to be closed to the great detriment and injury of said plaintiff and the public generally.” The court simply found in that case that the defendant was the owner of the land sought to be condemned and it was necessary to take it for a public street without determining whether it had once been a street and vacated or upon what defendant’s title was predicated.

A plat in the County Recorder’s office, placed in evidence as Exhibit 10-P, purports to show Section 10, Township 1 South, Range 1 East. There is no information on it as to when it was made or what it purports to show. So far as Lot 1, Block 27, 5 Acre Plat “C” is concerned, the map itself says “See Five Acre Plat “C”; so it has no bearing on the property here involved. The ownership plat covering Lot 1, Block 27, 5 Acre Plat “C”, was placed in evidence by defendant as Exhibit 24-D. This shows the length of Lot 1 to be 755 feet.

A map taken from the City Engineer’s office, Exhibit 11-P, was received in evidence. (Tr.-50, 51) The wit-

ness testified that if the west line of 21st East Street were extended from Sunnyside Avenue on the south it would run along a line 23.41 feet west of the city monument. A light pencil line from Foothill Drive to 13th South shows this imaginary extension. Plaintiffs introduced another plat, Exhibit 12-P, (Tr.-52), furnished by defendant, being a plat designated as "proposed property line location 21st East Street from 13th South to Foothill Drive." This shows what was proposed to be the east line of 21st East on 13th South on north to Foothill Drive, made in 1940. The witness testified that this line corresponds with the east line, if projected, shown on the Ann Elmer map. By what power of observation or calculation he could do this is beyond comprehension as a comparison of the two plats would show. However, it is well to point out that the west line of 21st East Street is shown on this map to be precisely where defendant contends it to be, 44.4 feet west of the street monument. It also shows the fence located in 1932 and the fence located in 1940, the former being along the property line and the latter inside the curb line.

Herbert H. Halliday, an employee of the Security Title Company, testified he examined the abstract of title, and, being put on notice of the 21 foot area dispute, went to the City Engineer's office. There he was shown an F. M. Lyman map and one or two others, which were older. The older maps showed as he recalled, 23.8 feet between the monument and the southeast corner of Lot 1, and the present map showed 44.4 feet. They were unable to explain to him why they had changed it. He believes

he talked to the City Engineer and some other individual who didn't have enough experience to talk. (Tr.-106, 107)

In support of its position defendant first introduced in evidence the following sections of the City Ordinances from the 1903 Revised Ordinances, which have been continued in identical language to and including the 1955 Revised Ordinances, now in effect:

“Sec. 153. *Duty of city engineer.* It shall be the duty of the city engineer to locate the lines and grades of all streets and sidewalks . . .”

“Sec. 155. *Street lines.* It shall be unlawful for any person to erect or construct, or to commence the erection or construction of any building, fence or other structure, or to make any excavation upon the line of any street, alley or other public way without first making application to, and obtaining from the city engineer a survey of such premises showing the property lines upon which such building, fence or other structure is to be constructed, or such excavation to be made.”

“Sec. 159. *Test of additions.* The city engineer shall from time to time make a test of the additions to the city, theretofore filed and recorded without a proper survey, or where the survey was so badly executed that great inaccuracy exists in respect to the lines of streets and alleys, and where there has been no official survey made by the city of the entire addition; and until a proper re-survey of such addition is made by the owners thereof, and the lines of the streets and alleys accurately determined by the engineer to agree with the recorded plat thereof, he may refuse to give any certificate of survey in connection therewith.”

“Sec. 163. *Re-surveys of additions.* The city engineer shall, from time to time as promptly as may be with the force at his disposal, proceed with re-surveys of additions as ordered by the city council.”

William Y. Tipton, chief draftsman in the City Engineer's office and licensed engineer since 1937, testified that he was familiar with this property since 1932. (Tr.-56) In that year when they were making a survey for Sylvia S. Harries (plaintiffs' predecessor) it was discovered that by some mistake the east line of 21st East Street going south from Park Crescent Subdivision and been produced by someone in the office to intersect the south line of the block. A survey on the ground was made based upon that premise and it was discovered that such line would be out in the traveled part of the street. Upon making this discovery the office immediately examined their records and found that an error has been made based upon the assumption that the line of a Park Crescent Subdivision street nearest 21st East Street should be produced to the south as the line of 21st East Street. They then made the correction, going back into their records and field notes. (Tr.-57) They discovered the following in their notes, which notes are a part of the official records of the city engineer: That on July (August) 9, 1915, their engineer Heath surveyed and located the fence at the northeast corner of 13th South and 21st East Street, on November 23, 1915, Heath located the fences on the southeast corner of said intersection. (Later, on January 26, 1938, Fisher located the fences at the southwest corner of the intersection.) On

August 31, 1911, Fiero located the fence traversing 13th South from the south line to the north line. The fences on the northwest corner were located by Cottrell on November 25, 1932. The line along the east side of the trees was run by Fisher in 1940, being the fence referred to by plaintiffs. Tipton prepared a plat showing these fences and corners as disclosed by these notes and their location from the city monument. This plat is Exhibit 13-D. (Tr.-58, 59)

They also found that the old Park Crescent Subdivision didn't have anything to do with the establishing of the east line of Lots 1, 19 and 20. It was a subdivision about 1000 feet to the north having no connection, actual or theoretical, with the east line of those lots. That subdivision did not conform in any way whatsoever to the Jesse W. Fox map or other maps containing the 5 Acre Plat survey. (Tr.-60)

In addition to containing field notes, Exhibit 13-D shows the line of the oiled road in 1932 and a dirt footpath that he observed in 1932. In 1932 there was no fence on the east side of the trees. The fence was to the west where Cottrell's notes showed it to be, which was 44.65 feet west of the city monument. He saw the fence east of the trees in 1934. Incidentally, this street monument was located arbitrarily as a matter of convenience and does not have any relationship to the width of the street or its boundaries. (Tr.-63)

The Jesse W. Fox map, dated August 27, 1867, was put in evidence as Exhibit 14-D. It contains 5 Acre Plat

“C” in its lower right hand corner. Lot 1, Block 27, was located by the witness by an arrow. He wrote in 13th South and 21st East to show those streets. This map does not itself give the width of the streets but it shows the pattern of 5 Acre Plat “A”, “B”, “C”, etc. The streets in this area are 66 feet wide south of 9th South and 132 feet wide north of 9th South. The map shows 21st East runs in a straight line. All lots are uniform in size. (Tr.-64) The problem involved in this case is the location of the southeast corner of Lot 1. No surveyor can make that determination as that is the duty of the City Engineer. Any surveyor would come to the City Engineer’s office to find where the corner is. There are no monuments as such marking the corner and no ties to a section corner. The government survey was made in 1869, two years after the Jesse W. Fox survey. (Tr.-65, 68) There are on record in the City Engineer’s office maps and plats showing the location, size, dimensions and width of lots in 5 Acre Plat “C”, made up by surveys and plats from which actual measurements are kept in detail as to the size of subdivisions and blocks and the lots throughout the city. (Tr.-69)

Exhibit 11-P, is a section map of the area involved. It shows Lot 1 to be 768.33 feet east and west and 287.1 feet north and south. This still makes the lot longer than the standard 759 feet. (Tr.-74) It fixed the southeast corner as being 44.4 feet west and 31.7 feet north of the city street monument, which is the position contended for by the City.

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