1957

## J. P. Gibbons and Virginia L. Gibbons v. Salt Lake City Corporation : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

PLAINTIFFS ESTABLISHED A CLEAR TITLE TO THE 21 FOOT STRIP BASED UPON THE FILES AND RECORDS THEREON AT THE SALT LAKE COUNTY RECORDER'S OFFICE.

### POINT II

PLAINTIFFS ESTABLISHED A CLEAR TITLE TO THE 21 FOOT STRIP BASED UPON ADVERSE AND CONTINUOUS USAGE FOR OVER 50 YEARS.

This case has been tried without a jury and was then submitted to the Court for adjudication. We shall endeavor to summarize the facts and the law in an orderly manner to clearly demonstrate the plaintiff's right and title to the 21 foot strip of land at issue.

At the corner of 21st East Street and 13th South Street in Salt Lake City, Utah was situated the old Harries homestead property. This land came to Henry H. Harries by U. S. Patent in 1870 by description which read: "The South  $\frac{1}{2}$  of Southwest  $\frac{1}{4}$  of Section 10, Twp. 1 South, Range 1 East, Salt Lake Base and Meridian." Roughly speaking, that encompassed an area running South from the Emigration Canyon stream bed and on both sides

of what is now known as 21st East Street, including our land.

The abstract of title to the land, exhibit 1-P shows the subsequent conveyances from the original patentee through his children and grandchildren to the warranty deed in favor of the present owners, plaintiffs in this case, J. P. and Virginia L. Gibbons. The testimony is clear that the said corner tract of land, including the 21 foot strip, was purchased for the erection of a service station and that such has now been constructed at the corner.

Three competent title men, Mr. Mark Eggertsen, Mr. Robert McAuliffe and Mr. Herbert Halliday, an attorney, testified concerning the work of the Security Title Company in the examination of this title in contemplation of a title insurance order presented to them. At the inception they were advised that Salt Lake City might claim the 21 foot strip and hence, they carefully searched the title records of Salt Lake County in order to ascertain the true status of the title. The customary records were all examined, and earlier abstract of title belonging to Mr. and Mrs. Savage (Exhibit 2-P) was scrutinized, old maps and plats of record in the County Recorder's office were checked and then, prior to a determination, Mr. Halliday went to the office of the Salt Lake Engineer and endeavored to find the legal or factual basis of any possible claim

by the city. He even discussed this with the City Engineer, himself, Mr. McLeese, but was given no evidence or satisfactory proof of title by the city. A survey was made of the corner, Exhibit 3-P, and duly weighed.

Following these exhaustive title search steps, that company then concluded that the entire corner, including the 21 foot strip, was validly vested in Mr. and Mrs. Savage and thereupon Mr. and Mrs. Gibbons purchased title. The opinion of these experts, in the field of title searching and examination, was that the city had and has no right, title or interest in and to the 21 foot strip. A policy of title insurance was then issued to the plaintiffs in the regular course of business, after the recording of the warranty deed from the Savages, showing the title vested in the plaintiffs free and clear from encumbrances.

When the time came for the actual construction of the service station, the city refused to grant a permit unless the improvements were set back 21 feet. Mr. Frank W. Taylor testified that he was informed that the city wanted it so set back for traffic purposes and if litigation established that it did not have title to the 21 foot strip, the city would condemn and purchase the same, (R. 46). In consequence and under protest, the service station was erected and set back of the 21 foot strip.

May we analyze the evidence before the Court as it bears upon the title problem here presented:

1. The Henry H. Harries patent included the area of the street and both sides of it.

2. Title and open possession of the area has been continuously in the Harries family from 1870 to 1954 and the plaintiffs and their predecessors have paid all taxes assessed thereon.

3. Salt Lake City has presented no deed, easement or other grant of title in its favor.

4. The streets in the area were designed for 66 foot width and the property, plat and survey lines on the East side of 21st East from Fort Douglas running South to 13th South represent a straight line but the city has arbitrarily altered the West line of 21st East on its maps, South of Foothill Boulevard.

5. The city has failed to prove its claim of title or possession.

Both abstracts in the record and Mrs. Savage's testimony confirm the fact that Henry H. Harries applied for and received a patent from the U.S.A. dated in 1870 and then conveyances were made later to his descendents to and including Mrs. Savage who appeared as a witness. The original patent included patent included the area in dispute, the

street area and both sides of the same. No exceptions or reservations for a street are found in the patent. Thus, any title which Salt Lake City might assert must have come from the Harries family.

This family has tenaciously held on to the land and has adversely asserted title even in the face of the attempt of the City Engineer's office to appropriate the 21 foot strip. In 1952 when the city tore down Savage's fence, removed the carriage step and attempted to bulldoze ou the shrubs and trees, Mrs. Savage vigorously resisted and protested.

The testimony of Mrs. Savage related to the line of trees and shrubs in front of their property, and irrigation ditch East of the trees, a fence on the East side of the ditch, which the city unlawfully tore down in 1952, and beyond that to the East was her grandfather's stepping stone, likewise removed by the city in 1952. She testified that they had paid all of the taxes assessed, including the sewer assessment to Salt Lake City on this 21 foot strip. Her testimony as to a foot path was very clear that no public traffic used it, only family members for the irrigation and cultivation of the area in question at the corner.

This testimony by Mrs. Savage is confirmed by Mr. Frank W. Taylor of the Texas Company. He went upon the land for a fixed purpose, to de-

termine the feasibility of constructing a service station, and he testified that he inspected it carefully for easements, paths, etc. and found none except the faint foot path for irrigation purposes, inside of the tree line. Mr. Tipton of the City Engineer's office presented a map drawn by him, from memory, just before the trial, purporting to show a public pathway. No reason was presented to recall this except the inspection made a few days before when taking pictures for the trial. No pathway was shown in any of the so-called "field notes" which he claimed to have examined. We feel that this was a belated effort to justify the defendant's claim of title set-forth in its pleading of adverse possession. No neighboring dwelling existed to the North of the Harries-Savage residence and the irrigation path was wholly within the fence so no public easement could have arisen. No one testified to any different use. The photos, Exhibit 5-P, 6-P and 7-P, show the raised character of the property higher than the street level.

Though many factors must be considered in determining title to property, it is very significant that in this case not one title document was presented or referred to by the city to justify its claim to title. No deed, condemnation, lease, easement or other title vesting instrument in favor of Salt Lake City is claimed or presented.



The only document bearing directly upon any title rights of the City to any part of 21st East street was presented by the plaintiffs in the form of the condemnation proceedings filed by Salt Lake City against Ann Elmers in 1879, Case No. 7138 in the Third District Court. Here the City recognized that it had no title to what is now 21st East street and so proceeded to condemn a street right-of-way North of the Emigration Canyon Creek to the Fort Douglas reservation.

In conformity with the established practice, a 66 foot street was condemned and acquired. The plat, prepared and filed by Salt Lake City in that case, shows the continuation of the street lines South of the Emigration Creek in a straight line extending South to and including the point where plaintiffs contend that the street now should be. We feel that it is a fair assumption that at said time the City probably entered into some agreement with Mrs. Savage's deceased grandparent for the establishment of 21st East through his property and along that same line or it would have condemned the right-of-way all the way South to what is now 13th South street (shown as 10th South on the plat).

The old Jesse Fox plat of Salt Lake City prepared in 1860 was adduced by the city and then disclaimed as a true plat, because it was not to

scale and was not subject to exact measurement. However, it was presented to show “the pattern” of lots and blocks. This shows a street in the approximate area of 21st East as a straight street. It was the same Jesse Fox who prepared the plat in the Ann Elmer case for condemnation of the right-of-way for 21st East. Once again it was shown as a straight street. Though the representative of the city engineer characterized this scale plat as a “picture” yet the legal description in the condemnation proceeding decree accurately ties this 66 foot street into metes and bounds; and the testimony of Mr. McAuliffe confirms our position that this same line extended to our property places the street line on the East of our 21 foot strip. The F. M. Lyman, Jr. survey of Five Acre Plat “C” July 1, 1932, Exhibit 9-P, likewise shows a straight street for 21st East and an excess of footage East and West in Lot 1 of Block 27 here at issue.

Perhaps the Salt Lake City Engineer’s office had laudable motives in modifying their plats when the Foothill Boulevard was designed and constructed across 21st East. This traffic problem could be best solved by conforming street and property lines to their new ideas. However, there is a legal proceeding for the exercise of eminent domain available to the City and the titles to real property are

not to be struck down by the stroke of a draftsman's pen in the City Engineer's office.

Two exhibits, both prepared by the City Engineer's office, but presented in evidence by the plaintiffs, No. 12-P and No. 11-P, illustrate forcefully our position that the City has on its own initiative attempted to appropriate the 21 foot strip in question for street purposes without due process of law.

Exhibit 12-P is a plat prepared by the City Engineer's office to show "Proposed Property Line Location, August 1940". The plat shows the entrance of Foothill Boulevard into and across 21st East at a point North of the fire station which is North of the Emigration Creek. Thus the area shown includes the street area as condemned by the Ann Elmer suit in 1879, as well as the extension to our property. But what is shown by this exhibit?

(a) To the North of the Boulevard crossing, 21st East is a 66 foot street.

(b) To the South of the Boulevard crossing, the East line of said street continues as the "plat line" all the way to the 13th South intersection.

(c) West of the said extended East line, which is the "plat line", we find a "proposed" new property line.

(d) The West line of 21st East, North of the Boulevard crossing conforms with the line as condemned and established in the Ann Elmer suit, but then the city engineer shows the West line of 21st East to the South as being 21 feet West of the true extension.

The next exhibit to be now considered is No. 11-P. This is a plat of Block 27, 5 acre Plat "C" as prepared by and procured from the City Engineer's office. The attention of the witness McAuliffe was drawn to the East line of the block, which extends from Fort Douglas to 13th South along 21st East. This plat shows the Monument line as established by the City Engineer many years ago. It shows the Westerly line of 21st East coursing South from the Fort Douglas and down to Foothill Boulevard in a straight line, but at a slight angle, converging towards the Monument line as indicated by the City Engineer's distance markings which we have encircled in red. Then it visually demonstrates the jog to the West commencing South of the Boulevard crossing which the City Engineer has platted to accomodate traffic. An extension of the original West line Southerly at the identical original angle brings it to the exact point claimmed by the plaintiff. Penciled notes by the witness McAuliffe placed on the margin confirm this (R. 52).

This exhibit No. 11-P likewise confirms the

fact that the City Engineer's office accepted and approved the West line of 21st East to the North of Foothill Boulevard along the line of the condemnation decree and plat in the Ann Elmer case as there are recorded subdivisions all along the street Southerly to the Foothill Boulevard. But at no place does the evidence show any consent or approval by the property owners to the alteration of the West street line South of the Boulevard. The distance of this altered West line from the Monument line varies about 10 feet from the North to the South side of the intersection of Foothill Boulevard and another 7 feet at the Laird Drive intersection.

The explanation attempted by the City for this land grab are two-fold; first, they contend that there was a fence line in the 1920's that would confirm the West line contended for by them. This is refuted by Mrs. Savage who has been familiar with the property for 60 years and has owned it since 1930. Even if true, a random fence line would not fix title in this case. The second explanation is that there is an excess of East-West footage in the block and they met with the owners of the land on the East side of 21st East, a Mr. Ashton, and between themselves decided to move the street to the West to give them a 21 foot strip but take it away from our owners without consulting us. By this process they say that the City only wants a 66 foot street

so we should not complain, even though that street now would include 21 feet of land taken from us without our consent and given to the property owners on the East.

### POINT III

DEFENDANT, SALT LAKE CITY CORPORATION, FAILED TO SHOW ANY EVIDENCE OF TITLE VESTED IN IT BY ANY DEED, GRANT, CONVEYANCE OR ASSIGNMENT.

### POINT IV

THE FINDINGS OF FACT OF THE COURT WERE SUSTAINED BY COMPETENT EVIDENCE SHOWING TITLE VESTED IN THE PLAINTIFFS.

The Findings of the Court were made after Judge Larson had heard the evidence, observed the witnesses and their exhibits and studied the memoranda submitted by counsel. Appellant attacks the Findings by its "Assignments of Error" #I; #II; #III and #IV. These have been generally answered by the previous argument and statement of facts.

As to items I and II, the testimony of Mrs. Savage is unempeached that she, her parents and grandparents occupied this corner, including the 21 foot strip, for more than sixty years prior to this litigation. She told of the trees planted and irrigation ditches established by her grandparent, the alfalfa raised, the plum trees, the fence line and the family stepping stone. Also she told of her protests



to the City in 1952 when it forceably bulldozed out some items, fence, stone, and some shrubs. The Photographs taken quite some time after the 1952 invasion by the City (Exhibits 5-P, 6-P, 7-P and 8-P) still show the raised character of the land, the trees, etc. The survey by Mr. Fisher made just prior to closing the purchase (Exhibit 3-P) reflects the edge of the roadway corresponding with our line except at the very corner where it cuts across slightly.

The public has not owned nor used the 21 foot strip and hence, Salt Lake City cannot complain that the Court did not find the same to be a part of a public street for 80 years. Such a finding would have been an obvious error. To sustain its position, Salt Lake City must account for the 21 foot jog in 21st East Street to the West from Foothill Boulevard Southerly. Mr. Tipton admitted that he knew of no deed or other instrument vesting in the City any title to the area (R. 90).

All of the title evidence sustains Plaintiffs' position. The City's own plats show a straight line. How has the City acquiesced in the location of the street to the East of our 21 foot strip? When the Ann Elmer suit for condemnation was filed in 1887 by the City, it showed the street as a straight line all the way past our property and that plat shows Henry Hugh Harries as the owner. The old Jesse



W. Fox plat of Salt Lake City shows the street straight. Even the City's plat, Exhibit 16-D drafted in 1933 shows the actual roadway of 21st East, both North and South of Emigration Creek as being along the Monument line. Exhibits 10-P and 11-P taken from the City Engineer's office have been previously discussed and demonstrate the Engineer's efforts to re-locate the street.

The only resolution relating to 21st East adopted by the City Commission was that in 1887 shown in the Ann Elmer suit which located it at the point contended for by Plaintiffs. The continued adverse use by the Harries family members for over fifty years confirms the Court's findings.

#### POINT V

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